IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHNNY ROBINSON,

Appellant,

Vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 74,113

SID J. VINITE

OCT 11 1989

Doputy Cont.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Fla. 32114 (904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Johnny Robinson was originally indicted on September 5, 1985 on charges of first-degree murder, kidnapping, armed robbery, and sexual battery. Following a jury trial, Appellant was found guilty as charged. (R4-6) Subsequently, the trial court followed the jury recommendation and sentenced Robinson to die. The trial court, without stating any reasons, imposed three consecutive life sentences for the three noncapital offenses after a guidelines recommendation of life imprisonment. (R14) Robinson appealed to this Court. This Court found no reversible error in Appellant's conviction and, therefore, affirmed. However, this Court reversed the sentence of death as a result of improper and prejudicial argument and testimony during the penalty phase and remanded for a new sentencing hearing before a jury. This Court also vacated the consecutive life sentences imposed for the three noncapital

offenses and remanded for resentencing. (R4-18); Robinson v. State, 520 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1988).

Prior to the new penalty phase, Appellant filed several motions. The trial court denied Robinson's motion for the use of a special verdict form for the unanimous jury determination of statutory aggravating circumstances. (R28-29,167-71) The trial court denied Robinson's motion to preclude death as a possible penalty which was based on double jeopardy principles. (R30-33,151-55) The trial court also denied Robinson's request to hold an evidentiary hearing exploring the prosecutor's motives in causing the previous mistrial. Additionally, the trial court denied Appellant's motion for individual and sequestered voir dire. (R38-41,162-64)

The trial court also denied Robinson's motion to declare Section 921.141(5)(h) and (i), Florida Statutes, to be unconstitutional. (R44-63,164-67) The trial court did attempt to modify the standard jury instructions in attempt to more adequately define these aggravating circumstances dealing with cold, calculated and premeditated and heinous atrocious and cruel. (R100-101,164-67,553-558,565-573,581-89,606,611,696-98,726-29,739) In so doing, the trial court agreed that Robinson was not waiving any objections to the unconstitutionality of the statute or to the jury instructions.

The trial court denied Robinson's motion to prohibit any reference to the advisory role of the jury, but did agree to a requested special preliminary jury instruction dealing with voir dire about the possible penalties. (R34-35,42-43,145-51)

Robinson filed a motion in limine regarding the history of the case in an attempt to conceal from the jury the fact that Robinson had been previously tried and convicted by a jury which then recommended that he be put to death. Appellant also did not want the jury informed of the subsequent appeal and reversal of the death sentence previously imposed by the trial court. (R36-37) Both the state and the trial court agreed that the jury should not be informed of the previous death recommendation and this Court's reversal of Robinson's death sentence. (R146-47) Following jury selection, trial counsel moved for a mistrial based upon the fact that the venire (from which the jury had been selected) had discovered, during the luncheon recess, that this proceeding was a "resentencing." (R65-66,271-72) The trial court denied the motion for mistrial. Robinson also objected to the trial court instructing the jury that he "had been found guilty of first-degree murder." The trial court also overruled that objection. (R156-59,196)

During the penalty phase, Robinson objected to certain language contained in the preliminary jury instructions which Robinson contended unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof. (R190-91,197-98,599) The trial court also overruled trial counsel's objection to proceeding without providing a coat and tie for Robinson to wear at trial. (R193-94)

The jury was allowed to hear the reading of Bernard Fields' prior testimony after the trial court declared Fields to be unavailable. Appellant objected based upon his constitutional right to confront witnesses. (R284-320,322) The trial court also

overruled two defense objections to two question asked of Fields. (R304,310)

Appellant objected to the introduction of certain evidence at trial including pictures of Robinson's automobile; the introduction of a gun similar to the one used in the murder; the introduction of a videotape of the crime scene; and a purse strap found at the scene. The trial court overruled the objections and allowed the introduction of this evidence. (R307-308,330-43,373-76,456-58,461)

During the testimony of Deputy Charles West, the trial court overruled defense counsel's objections to certain portions of West's testimony. (R349-50,356-65,376-77,397-98,405) The trial court also overruled Appellant's objection to a question asked by the state of Dr. McConaghie. (R444-50) The trial court sustained two objections by the state during the testimony of Dr. Krop, a defense witness. (R516,547-48) The trial court overruled Appellant's objection to a question asked by the state of Dr. Krop. (R522)

The trial court denied most of Appellant's requested, special instructions. (R93-99,563-65,570-71,599, 696) The trial court also denied Robinson's request to use the standard jury instruction relating to accomplices. (R578-79) The trial court also denied Robinson's request to specifically instruct the jury as to the eight nonstatutory mitigating circumstances that were supported by the evidence. (R594) The trial court persisted in its denial even after the jury specifically requested instructions thereon. (R703-710)

During summation by the prosecutor, the trial court overruled Appellant's timely objection which was based on racial grounds. (R633-34)

Following deliberations, the jury returned with an eight to four recommendation to impose the death penalty. (R69-71,713-16) The trial court denied Robinson's motion for new trial. (R89,108,725-29) The trial court then sentenced Johnny Robinson to die in the electric chair. (R732-38) The trial court found six aggravating circumstances and three mitigating circumstances. (R109-114) The trial court sentenced Robinson to life imprisonment as to each of the three noncapital offenses. The trial court ordered each sentence to run concurrent with each other and allowed credit for 1306 days previously served. (R115-21,731-32) Robinson filed a timely notice of appeal on April 27, 1989. (R125) This Court has jurisdiction under Article V,

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Beverly St. George left her home in Plant City at approximately 8 o'clock a.m. on August 11, 1985. She had approximately \$200 in cash. Before leaving the house, she put her bills in her wallet which she then placed in her black purse. Ms. St. George's intended destination was Quantico, Virginia to attend a child custody hearing on August 13th. Her planned route would take her west on Interstate-4 and then north on Interstate-95. Her 1968 green Plymouth had been having overheating problems. (R452-53)

On the morning of August 12, 1985, the body of Beverly St. George was found in Pellicer Creek Cemetery, in St. Johns County, Florida. She was wearing blue jeans but no shirt.

(R327-42) Several beer cans, a black purse strap, and a .22 caliber long rifle shell casing were found in the vicinity.

(R340-41,369-72)

An autopsy revealed that St. George died sometime during the early morning hours of August 12, 1985 as a result of two gunshot wounds to her head. (R425-29) One bullet entered the left cheek while the other entered on the left side of her forehead. Both bullets penetrated the medulla. (R428) The medical examiner was unable to state with certainty the sequence of the two wounds. (R429,433-40,444-47) Either wound in and of itself would have caused her death. (R429) The doctor opined that St. George would have died in a matter of seconds after the first shot. (R429-30,440) The doctor also opined that St. George would have been rendered unconscious immediately at the time the

first shot was fired. (R430) The wound to the cheek showed characteristics of a contact wound indicating that the gun was pressed against the skin at the time it fired. (R432-34) The wound to the forehead was inflicted by discharge of a gun that was one to two feet away from the skin. (R434-35) Other than the two gunshot wounds, St. George had suffered only a scratch on her right thumb. There was no evidence of any other injury. (R430) Although sperm was present, there was no injury to her vagina. (R430,441) The medical examiner found no markings, indentations, or injuries of any type to St. George's wrists, hands, or arms. (R441)

On August 17, 1985, St. Johns County Deputies arrested Johnnie Robinson and Bernard Fields, a sixteen-year-old black male. (R343-44) Investigator Charles West interviewed Robinson at the Detective Division located in the Sheriff's office. (R344) Johnny Robinson cooperated with law enforcement authorities from the outset. (R346-49) West spoke to Robinson briefly at approximately two o'clock that afternoon during which time West informed Robinson of his constitutional rights pursuant to Miranda v.

Arizona, 284 U.S. 436 (1966). West talked to Robinson once again at approximately 6:30 that evening, again informed him of his rights, and Robinson again signed a waiver of those rights.

(R344-50) West and Detective Davis interviewed Robinson before they eventually reduced Robinson's statement to writing. (R345-46,351-54,360,383-84) Detective Davis wrote out the statement for Robinson. (R351,354)

Under oath, Robinson told Detective West that he had been at a party in Orange Mills throughout Sunday evening. had been drinking Hennessy Cognac, some gin or vodka, as well as a quantity of beer. He left the party at approximately 11:30 p.m. accompanied by Bernard Fields. The pair headed toward Orlando on I-95 in order to visit Appellant's girlfriend. On the way, they spotted a green Plymouth pulled over on the side of the road. Since Robinson had some mechanical expertise, he turned around and went to the woman's aid. She told him that she was simply tired and had stopped to rest. Robinson talked and joked with Ms. St. George. During the conversation, she noticed that he carried a gun and wished aloud that she had something similar to kill her ex-husband. Ms. St. George eventually accompanied Robinson and Fields in their car to Pellicer Cemetery. Once they arrived, Robinson and Ms. St. George began to engage in some consensual sexual activity on the hood of his car. During this activity, the Appellant took his gun out of his pants and placed it on the hood. Bernard expressed a desire to leave, but Robinson stated that he wanted to "...take the bitch back to the party!" (R353) She replied, "Who the fuck are you calling a bitch!" Appellant told her, "Shut up whore!". (R353) Bernard began to laugh and the woman began pawing at the Appellant. He picked up the gun and tried to push her back as she pressed up against him. The gun went off accidentally and hit her in the face. When Robinson realized what had happened, he shot her again. became scared when he realized the credibility problem that he would face concerning the accidental shooting of a white woman.

He drove her away from the area before deciding to get rid of her belongings. He threw her pocketbook, blouse, and other belongings out the car window. As dawn broke, he took Bernard home before heading for his own house. When he woke up the next morning, he partially destroyed the gun, using a screwdriver. He then carried the gun under the seat of his car for several days. As he was coming back from Orlando on the morning of August 17, 1985, he stopped the car on the interstate and threw the gun into the bushes. (R352-54)

There was physical evidence that supported Robinson's explanation that the killing was, in fact, accidental. The medical examiner could not exclude the possibility that the shots were accidentally fired. (R442-43) The doctor had no idea what St. George's position was when the shots were fired. (R436,443-444) The contact wound could have been caused while St. George was moving toward the gun barrel, that is, while she was on the offensive. (R442-43)

At the time of his testimony, Clinton Bernard Fields,
Appellant's accomplice, was awaiting sentencing following his
convictions for first-degree murder, armed robbery, kidnapping,
and sexual battery arising from this incident. (R316-17) Although
he did go to trial on these charges, he avoided any possibility
of a death sentence when he agreed to testify against Robinson.
(R317) The state promised to do its best to obtain concurrent
rather than consecutive sentences. (R316) The state also granted
Fields immunity from prosecution for any other proceedings
arising from his testimony or depositions. (R318) Fields admitted

that he was looking and hoping for some, indeed any, benefit from the state resulting from his testimony against Robinson. (R317-18) Additionally Fields planned to appeal his convictions and steadfastly maintained his own innocence in the affair. (R318-321)

For whatever reason, Barnard Fields' account of the death of Ms. St. George differed dramatically from that related under oath by the Appellant at the time of his arrest. Fields testified that Robinson pulled out his gun as he got out of his car and walked up to St. George's car. He ordered her out of the car at gunpoint. Robinson and St. George got into the back seat of his car where he put handcuffs on her. Robinson took the woman's purse and threw it on the front seat. He ordered Fields to go through the purse, but Fields refused. Robinson then ordered Fields to drive to Charlie T's Truck Stop where Robinson took over the driving. (R294-295) From there Robinson drove to Pellicer Creek Cemetery where he took off the cuffs, had the woman undress and get onto the hood of the car. According to Fields, Robinson had sexual intercourse with the woman first and then ordered Fields to do likewise. Initially, Fields refused explaining that he had a steady sexual partner. However, when Robinson raised his voice, Fields feared for his life and reluctantly had intercourse with Ms. St. George. After Fields finished, Robinson once again had intercourse with the woman. (R296-98) When asked if the woman was agreeable to the sexual activity, Fields replied, "Well, in a way, she wasn't." (R298)

Fields testified that during the time that she was in their company, St. George asked on several occasions if they

meant her any harm. Fields testified that he reassured her about her safety. (R299-300) Fields also testified that, at the conclusion of the sexual activity, Robinson expressed concern that the woman could identify both him and his car. Fields reportedly dismissed this possibility, pointing out that the cemetery was dark. Robinson then allegedly stated that the only way she could not make an identification was if she were dead. According to Fields, Robinson then walked up to the woman and put the gun to her cheek. Fields turned his head, heard a shot, and later saw the woman on the ground. Robinson then shot her a second time. (R300-301) The pair then drove to a desolate area where they burned all of Ms. St. George's property. (R301-302) Fields testified that Robinson took cash from her purse. Fields swore that he received none of the money. (R302) Fields stated that Robinson later threw the gun out of the car window somewhere along I-95. (R308-309)

During the entire incident, Fields considered an attempt to flee, but did not do so as a result of his alleged fear of Robinson as well as his inability to run well. He had lost a leg as a result of a motorcycle accident. (R290-91,303-304)

The state presented evidence that Robinson had a 1979 rape conviction in Maryland. As a result, he was sentenced to ten years and was still on parole at the time of this offense. (R462-68)

Dr. Harry Krop, a clinical psychologist specializing in the forensic field, was accepted as an expert witness without objection. (R489-93) Dr. Krop examined Robinson on two occasions,

in March of 1986 and again on December 9, 1988. (R501) Each interview was approximately three hours long. (R501-502) In addition to Krop's personal examination of Robinson, Krop also reviewed records from prior testimony and hearings, reviewed the presentence investigation report, reviewed Department of Corrections records, examined defense counsel's complete file, and talked to individuals familiar with Robinson. (R502-03)

Krop testified that he was familiar with the mitigating circumstances set forth in the Florida Statutes. Krop concluded that none of the statutory mitigating circumstances were applicable to Robinson. Krop admitted that he reserved the application of the mitigator relating to "extreme emotional disturbance" to individuals who are actually psychotic. (R49-98) Dr. Krop admitted that, although the statute did not define "extreme", that was the standard that Krop had developed for his own use. (R497-500)

Dr. Krop found Johnny Robinson's background and upbringing most significant. (R509) Johnny's biological father, Reverend J.B. Robinson, left Johnny's upbringing to the Reverend's own father, Johnny's grandfather. In fact, Johnny mistakenly believed for quite some time that his grandfather was his biological father. Johnny never knew his mother and was never told why she had no part in raising him. (R509)

Physical and sexual abuse was a constant in Johnny Robinson's childhood. Johnny's grandfather would sometimes use a black leather belt to beat Johnny. (R509) A variation on the same theme involved forcing Johnny to squat with a broom handle

between his legs where he was forced to remain for a indefinite time. Sometimes his grandparents would beat Johnny while he remained in that position. On some occasions, the grandfather would tie Johnny's hands together and then use a switch on him. (R510) Johnny's living arrangements were corroborated by Reverend Robinson. (R503,509) The mother of one of Johnny's childhood friends corroborated the fact that Johnny was physically abused by his foster father. (R509-10) She reported seeing bruises on a number of occasions. (R510) Johnny frequently sought refuge at his friend's home. (R510)

Johnny's childhood was also replete with sexual abuse. He was sexually abused by an uncle at the age of seven. (R511) When Johnny was approximately eleven years old, his grandfather married a fifteen-year-old who then became Johnny's "step-mother." (R510-511) His "step-mother" also sexually abused Johnny on a number of occasions. (R511) This effectively drove Johnny from the home for good. He ran away and began living on the streets. (R511) Johnny had previously run away from home to live with an aunt but, his grandfather was called and he was returned home. (R511-12)

After successfully escaping from his grandfather and step-mother, Johnny lived in various migrant labor camps between the ages of twelve and fourteen. Johnny was also sexually abused while living in these labor camps, but he had no other place to go. (R512) Also around this time, Johnny encountered trouble with the law. After one arrest, Johnny became afraid that he would be sent home, so he lied about his age and told the police

that he was eighteen. Robinson was ultimately incarcerated in an adult prison at the age of thirteen. (R512) Since that time he has been incarcerated in various institutions during a large portion of his juvenile and adult life. (R512)

Dr. Krop opined that Robinson's social background precipitated his involvement in anti-social activity. (R513) Robinson's upbringing resulted in the development of an anti-social personality disorder, <u>i.e.</u> a character disorder which results in social disfunction. (R513) Dr. Krop also diagnosed Robinson as suffering from a psycho-sexual disorder. (R513) Dr. Krop explained that it was extremely common for victims of sexual abuse to develop such a disorder. (R514) The effect of the disorder in Robinson's case was inappropriate sexual behavior, specifically forced sex. (R513-14)

Dr. Krop concluded that Robinson's alcohol use the night of the offense contributed to the incident. Robinson began drinking that afternoon in Daytona where he consumed a pint of Crown Royal. (R515) At the party that evening, Robinson drank between two and four coffee-cup size containers of either gin or vodka. (R515-16) Robinson also drank two or three six-packs of beer during that period of time. He also bought another pint of Crown Royal which he drank that evening. (R516) Robinson reported that when drinking, he behaved differently. He becomes more easily frustrated and potentially more violent. (R514-15) However, Robinson's intoxication generally is not apparent to observers. Outwardly, he appears to hold his liquor well. (R515) Dr. Krop found seven nonstatutory mitigating circumstances: (1)

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