IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JOHNNY L. ROBINSON,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 74,113

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BELLE B. TURNER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Points one, two, seven, nine and ten all concern the instructions to the jury. Some of these claims are not preserved for review. The trial court correctly rejected the defendant's proposed jury instructions because the standard jury instructions were adequate and correctly apprised the jury of the law governing their deliberations. Any error is harmless.

The trial court properly sustained the state's objections during the testimony of defense witness Harry Krop. One question called for an answer beyond the witness' personal knowledge, and the other question improperly requested Krop to vouch for Robinson's credibility.

The trial court found six valid aggravating factors which are amply supported by the facts and law. The court considered and properly rejected proffered nonstatutory mitigating evidence. Any invalidation of one or more aggravating factors does not affect the sentence.

The prior decision in this case ordered the court to conduct a new sentencing proceeding, and therefore, appellant is foreclosed from arguing that reimposition of the death sentence violates double jeopardy.

Lack of objection to comments which allegedly denigrate the jury's role precludes appellate review. Even if preserved, the remarks were accurate statements of Florida law.

The alleged cumulative error is nonexistant.

The capital sentencing statute is constitutional on its face and as applied.

POINT ONE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION BY DECLINING TO GIVE THE GUILT PHASE INSTRUCTION CONCERNING THE USE OF CAUTION IN EVALUATING ACCOMPLICE'S TESTIMONY IN PENALTY PHASE **BECAUSE** RELATIVE CULPABILITY HAD ALREADY BEEN DETERMINED AND BECAUSE THE STANDARD INSTRUCTIONS ENCOMPASS THE REQUEST. ANY ERROR IS HARMLESS.

During the charge conference, the defense requested several preliminary instructions which are normally given in the guilt phase, including the instruction that an accomplice's testimony should be viewed with caution. (R 578) The defense argued that the relative culpability of Fields and Robinson was nonstatutory mitigating factor. (R 578) The court replied that no such evidence had been presented, and noted that the jury had already found Robinson guilty of murder, kidnapping, and robbery. The requested instruction was denied because it "had nothing to do with" the relative culpability of the two men. (R 579) The court correctly noted that the jury was aware that Fields received a sentence of life for his participation in these Appellant contends that crimes. this ruling constituted reversible error.

At the outset, the state notes that this request was not made in writing as is required by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

the extent that this claim is subject to appellate analysis, the standard of review is whether the trial court abused his discretion. King v. State, 514 So.2d 354 (Fla. 1987) Despite appellant's contention to the contrary, the credibility of the accomplice is not the same as the relative culpability of the codefendants. The court correctly found that the requested instruction had nothing to do with the proposed nonstatutory mitigating factor. In King, this court reaffirmed the principle that mitigating evidence was not unlimited, it has to be relevant to determining the appropriate punishment. Fields' credibility was relevant in the quilt phase. Once the jury found Robinson guilty as charged, implicitly determining that Fields credible, this issue is no longer relevant. The relative culpability of the two men was addressed at length in argument. The fact remains that the instruction requested did not address the nonstatutory factor alleged: relative culpability of the parties.

The court correctly ruled that the instruction requested did not concern the proposed mitigating factor. Moreover, the ruling was correct because the issue was addressed in the "Weighing the Evidence" charge which was read to the jury. (R 692-693) When a requested instruction is subsumed in the standard instructions, it is not error to decline to give the defendant's charge. Bertolotti v. State, 476 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1986).

The state notes that the defense in this case was that the contact wound to the victim's cheek was inflicted accidently; the

defendant stated that she walked into the muzzle of the gun and aside for the moment the it went off. Leaving impossibility of this version, the defense is significant because Robinson did not suggest that Fields was the shooter, or that Fields was more culpable than Robinson. The defendant himself admitted that Fields played a minor role in this crime. he attempted to convince the jury that his action of firing the fatal shot was accidental. This is completely different from laying the blame for the crime on Fields. The trial court correctly noted that there was no evidence to support the requested instruction.

Even if reviewable, and even if the trial court abused his discretion in determining that the requested instruction had nothing to do with the proposed nonstatutory mitigating evidence, any error is harmless beyond and to the exclusion of every State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1987) reasonable doubt. The state admits that the eyewitness testimony from Fields was particularly compelling evidence, but suggests that even without his testimony, the state could establish its case. prosecution with eyewitness testimony; defendants are convicted of first degree murder on circumstantial evidence. In this case, apart from Fields' testimony, there was competent, substantial evidence to sustain the verdict, rendering The defense stipulated that the murder any error harmless. weapon was stolen in a burglary shortly before the murder. state had compelling evidence that Robinson (and not Fields) was

the burglar. The stipulation that Robinson fired the fatal shots was made in recognition that the state could prove he was the shooter. Robinson's statement to Detective West that "a gun is a sign of power and authority" constitutes an admission. Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988). Moreover, in his statement to West, Robinson admitted nearly every element of the crime: he admitted he committed the act of killing, but contended it was accidental. The jury could believe that he committed the act and disbelieve that it was accidental. See, Buenoano v. State, 478 So.2d 387 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Drake v. State, 476 So.2d 210 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). Therefore, any error in the consideration of Fields' testimony was harmless given the other evidence in this case. Moreover, the error was rendered harmless by the extensive argument on this precise question. (R 640-643, 650-657, 660-666, 685-686) See, Seckington v. State, 424 So.2d 194 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983).

The trial court correctly ruled that the requested instruction was unrelated to the proposed nonstatutory mitigating factor. The request was encompassed in the standard jury instructions concerning weighing the evidence. Even if error, any error is harmless given the abundance of evidence in this case.

POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY SEPARATELY ON THE NONSTATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES ALLEGED.

charge conference, defense During the counsel requested that "...instead of merely giving the any other aspect the eight specific non-statutory general charge, that ...mitigating circumstances testified to and found by Dr. Krop as applying to Johnny Robinson be specifically read to the Jury in their entirety." (R 594) The trial court correctly ruled that the standard jury instruction adequately addressed the issue of nonstatutory mitigating evidence.

After the jury retired to deliberate, they sent out a question asking for a list of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances which applied to this case. Defense counsel speculated that this request was for the nonstatutory mitigating factors alleged. The prosecutor suggested submitting the written charge which had already been delivered orally. The trial court instructed the jury to rely on their recollection, and told them that the court would reread any portion of testimony or instructions they desired. Appellant alleges error in these rulings.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(c) requires that all requests for jury instructions must be submitted in writing. As appellant failed to do so, this issue is not preserved for review. Moreover, the requested instruction was misleading as it

suggested that the alleged nonstatutory mitigating circumstances had already been established. The jury was free to reject the proposed nonstatutory evidence as not established. The court properly rejected appellant's suggestion as misleading.

Even if preserved, the trial court followed a long line of established precedent from this court that the standard jury instructions adequately advise the jury that the statutory list of mitigating factors is not exhaustive. Mason v. State, 438 So.2d 374, 379 (Fla. 1983); Delap v State, 440 So.2d 1242 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 467 U.S. 1264, 104 S.Ct. 3559, 82 L.Ed.2d 860 (1984); Kennedy v. State, 455 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1984)(Trial court correctly refused to instruct that lack of intent to kill could be a nonstatutory mitigating factor.); Mendyk v. State, 545 So.2d 846 (Fla. 1989) (Standard instructions adequately informed jury that they could consider any aspect of the defendant's character such that specific instruction on nonstatutory factor of co-defendant's sentence unnecessary.) In Jackson v. State, 530 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1988) this court held that the standard instruction mitigating circumstances complies on constitutional principles and that it was not error for the trial court to refuse to instruct the jury according to a written list the of nonstatutory mitigating circumstances alleged See also, Puiatti v. State, 495 So.2d 128 (Fla. defendant. 1986); Card v. Dugger, 512 So.2d 827 (Fla. 1987) No error is presented.

Even if preserved, and even if error despite the established precedent from this court, any error is harmless in this case. See, Smith v. Dugger, 529 So.2d 679 (Fla. 1988); White v. Dugger, 523 So.2d 140 (Fla. 1988) There are insufficient mitigating circumstances in this case to offset the multiple valid aggravating factors such that neither the jury nor the trial court would reasonably conclude that any sentence other than death was the appropriate punishment for this murder.

POINT THREE

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY SUSTAINED TWO OBJECTIONS DURING THE TESTIMONY OF A DEFENSE EXPERT

Appellant complains that the trial court sustained two of the prosecutor's objections during the testimony of expert Doctor Harry Krop, and contends that this action unconstitutionally restricted his right to present evidence on his behalf. The state contends that the trial court's rulings were entirely proper. One question asked the doctor to vouch for the credibility of Robinson, the other asked a question which was beyond the witness' personal knowledge concerning a matter not requiring expert testimony.

The first instance transpired as follows:

Q.(Defense) In considering making a diagnosis, have you arrived at а conclusion ordiagnosis as to whether or not on eveining when he had the encounter with Mrs. St. George, he was in fact, in your opinion, intoxicated?

(State): Judge, I object. That calls for total conjecture on his part.

The Court: Objection sustained. (R 516)

The trial court's broad discretion in the admission of evidence was not abused by sustaining this improper question. Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1129 Fla. 1981) Section 90.604, Florida Statutes, (1987) prohibits a witness from testifying about a matter of which he has no personal knowledge, except as provided in section 90.702, Florida Statutes (1987). It is undisputed

that Dr. Krop has no personal knowledge of the appellant's state of intoxication on the night of the murder. Expert testimony is permitted in section 90.702 only if scientific, technical or specialized knowledge is necessary to understand particular area. Whether someone is intoxicated is not a subject that requires expert testimony. "It takes no great expertise for jurors to determine whether an accused was 'so intoxicated as to be mentally unable to intend anything..." Chestnut v. State, 538 So.2d 820, 823 (Fla. 1989) quoting with approval, State v. Wilcox, 70 Ohio st.2d 182, 436 N.E.2d 523 (1982) See also, Lambrix v. State, 534 So.2d 1151,1154 (Fla. 1988)(In order for an expert to testify as to chemical dependence, it would have been necessary to have actual knowledge of intoxicants imbibed.) Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in sustaining this objection.

The second "limitation" was proper because it sustained an objection to an admittedly improper question:

Q. (defense) ...(H) aving spent approximately six hours with him, ...do you lack confidence in the truthfulness of the reports made to you by Mr. Robinson?

(State) Your Honor, I object. That's total speculation, once again, conjecture on his part as to his truthfulness.

The Court: Sustained. He can relate to the jury what he was told by the Defendant. He can relate how he determines whether a man is telling the truth, but he certainly cannot tell this jury whether or not the Defendant is telling the truth. (R 547-548)

Expert witnesses cannot vouch for the credibility of their patients. Tingley v. State, 536 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1988); Glendening v. State, 536 So.2d. 212 (Fla. 1988) No error is presented.

POINT FOUR

THE COURTHOUSE SIGNS DIRECTING JURORS TO A 'CRIMINAL RESENTENCING' DID NOT RENDER THE PROCEEDINGS FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR.

Appellant contends that the trial court committed reversible error in failing to grant a motion for mistrial on the basis that the jury was directed to the courtroom by signs containing the word "resentencing", without any reference to the defendant by name. (R 66, 271-272) He speculates that laymen "could easily conclude that Robinson had previously been sentenced to death..."
(B 46), and claims that his constitutional rights were infringed.

Appellee disagrees that the jurors would conclude that Robinson had been previously sentenced to death from this sign. This claim is based on sheer speculation. This court cannot presume that an error injuriously affected the substantial rights of the appellant, and therefore, neither this sentence nor the jury recommendation should be reversed. §924.33 Fla. Stat. (1987).

Even if subject to review, appellee agrees that this issue is controlled by this court's decision in <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1987). No error is presented.

POINT FIVE

THE FINDINGS OF FACT IN SUPPORT OF DEATH SENTENCE ESTABLISH THE THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND SIX AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES. EVEN IF ONE WAS IMPROPERLY FOUND, IN LIGHT OF THE **ABSENCE** OF STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES AND RELATIVELY INSIGNIFICANT MITIGATING NONSTATUTORY THE SENTENCE SHOULD CIRCUMSTANCES, BE AFFIRMED.

After the sentencing hearing, the jury rendered an advisory sentence of eight to four in favor of the imposition of the death penalty (R 69). The trial judge considered the advisory sentence, then on April 3, 1989, entered the required findings of fact and sentenced Robinson to death (R 109-111).

The trial court found six aggravating circumstances and no statutory mitigating circumstances. Robinson's difficult childhood, including physical and sexual abuse and absence of a mother were cited as nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, although he argues on appeal that other nonstatutory mitigating circumstances were established.

Appellee contends that the trial court's conclusions are entirely correct. Appellant assails only three of the six aggravating circumstances thereby admitting that three were properly found: the capital felony committed while Robinson was on parole, his previous conviction of a violent felony, and the capital felony was committed during a sexual battery and kidnapping. Appellant also concedes that no statutory mitigating circumstances were present. This honorable court has held numerous times that when several valid aggravating circumstances

exist, death is the appropriate penalty. See eq., Peede v. State, 474 So.2d 808 (Fla. cert. denied, 477 U.S. 909 (1985). See also, Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 103 S.Ct. 2733, 77 L.Ed.2d 235 (1983). Accordingly, appellee contends that even if appellant's argument is accepted in its entirety, nonetheless, death is the appropriate sentence in this case.

A. The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. §921.141(5)(h), Fla. Stat. (1985).

In support of this aggravating circumstance, the trial court stated:

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